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The three Defendants, Jimy R vera-Pagan, Jose Vegas-Torres,
I rving Cabassa-Rivera, are each charged with one count of
conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute 5 kil ogranms or
nore of cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846, and one count
of possession with intent to distribute 5 kilograns or nore of
cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(A).

Def endants have noved to suppress the cocaine found in
their! | uggage because, they argue, the search warrant pursuant
to which the | uggage was searched was not based on probabl e cause
(doc. nos. 42-45, 54). Specifically, Defendants argue that the
affidavit relied upon by the magi strate judge in approving the

search warrant did not supply probable cause for the search

1 As expl ai ned bel ow, whether the |uggage or the cocai ne was
actually “theirs” is of sonme dispute.



The Gover nnment opposes the suppression notions, arguing that
the affidavit provided probable cause for the search warrant
(doc. no. 50).°?2

For the reasons that follow, the Court wll deny Defendants’

suppressi on noti ons.

BACKGROUND

On Septenber 26, 2006, DEA Special Agent Merrit R G bson,
Jr., submitted an affidavit in support of a search warrant to
Magi strate Judge Tinmothy Rice of the Eastern District of
Pennsyl vania. Judge R ce, after reviewing the affidavit and
proposed description of the property to be searched, issued the
search warrant.

The property to be search was listed in Attachnment “A’” to
the warrant:

Six itenms of luggage fromUS AIR flight #1996

described as follows: (1) Tag #047797 attached to a

gray Travel mate suitcase; (2) Tag #047798 attached to a

bl ack Travel nete suitcase; (3) Tag #047821 attached to

a gray Travel mate suitcase; (4) Tag # 047822 attached

to light gray Travel mate suitcase with orange striping;

(5) Tag #047828 was attached to a black Travel nate

sui tcase; (6) Tag #047829 attached to a |ight gray
Travel mate suitcase wth orange striping.

2 The Governnent also argues that (1) even if the affidavit
di d not provide probabl e cause, any evidence obtained as a result
of the search of the luggage is adm ssible under the “good faith”
exception, and (2) Defendants |acked standing to contest the
search. Because the Court determ nes that affidavit provided
probabl e cause for the search, the Court need not reach these
argunent s.



The first five paragraphs of the affidavit detail Agent
G bson’ s background--11 years as a special agent with the DEA and
specialization in narcotics smuggling and investigations. The
follow ng are the contents, verbatim of paragraphs 6 through 15
of the affidavit:

6. During the week of Septenber 25, 2006, nenbers
of the DEA, Philadelphia Field D vision, Goup 8
received information fromthe San Juan, Puerto Ri co DEA
of fice regardi ng the possible shipnent of a quantity of
cocai ne destined to the Phil adel phia International
Airport via commercial air carrier.

7. The San Juan DEA office also provided the
Phi | adel phia Field D vision with possible couriers
known to the San Juan DEA office as Jose VEGA, Irving
CABASSA and Jimmy RIVERA. All subjects purchased their
flight ticket at the US Airway ticket counter at the
Luis Marin Muinoz International Airport, San Juan,
Puerto Ri co.

8. On Septenber 26, 2006, nenbers of the San Juan,
Puerto Rico DEA Ofice received information that Jose
VEGAS, |rving CABASSA and Ji nmy RI VERA checked in at
the US Airways airline, Luis Marin Minoz I|nternational
Airport. Each passenger had two pi eces of |uggage,
each passenger purchased their ticket prior to boarding
their flight and paid cash.

9. The tickets were one-way only to LaGuardi a
International Airport in New York, with a connection at
t he Phil adel phia International A rport. Jose VEGA s
| uggage was assi gned baggage ticket nunbers 047821 and
047822. 1rving CABASSA s | uggage was assi gned baggage
ti cket nunmbers 047828 and 047829. Jimmy RIVERA' s
| uggage was assi gned baggage ticket nunbers 047797 and
047798. Four of the six pieces of |uggage were
subj ected to secondary inspection by the Transportation
Security Admnistration (TSA) in San Juan, Puerto Rico.
That i nspection reveal ed that four of the pieces of
| uggage, previously nentioned, were virtually enpty,
except for a few itens.

10. According to information received froml aw
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enforcenment authorities and previous investigations,
approximately twenty-five kil ograns of cocaine were
sei zed on Septenber 21, 2006 at the Phil adel phia
International Airport in a suitcase with the baggage
claimassigned to Christian CH CLANA CARLO.

11. The airplane carrying the | uggage contai ni ng
the twenty-five kil ograns of cocaine originated at the
Luis Marin Muinoz International Airport, San Juan,
Puerto Rico. The defendant in that case, Christian
CHI CLANA CARLO was identified by the San Juan Puerto
Rico Ofice as a possible courier that was traveling
from San Juan, Puerto, Rico, to Phil adel phia,

Pennsyl vania en route to LaGuardi a I nternational
Airport in New York, via US Airways.

12. On Septenber 26, 2006, the three passengers
identified in paragraphs six and seven had at |east the
foll ow ng pieces of |luggage. Three of the pieces of
| uggage were gymtype bags with the word “Tour” and a
red letter “X.” A fourth piece of |uggage was a bl ack
roller type suitcase with no distinct identifiers.

13. It is the affiant’s belief that this
organi zati on consi st of nenbers that are enpl oyed as
ai rport baggage handlers that are co-conspirators with
the drug couriers. These airline enployees take the
assi gned baggage tickets and place them on unidentified
| uggage that couriers retrieve upon the conpletion of
their travel. Philadelphia Field D vision confirmed
the travel plans of Jose VEGA, |rving CABASSA and Ji nmy
RI VERA. According to flight information, Jose VEGA,
| rvi ng CABASSA and Jimy RI VERA were scheduled to
arrive at the Phil adel phia International Airport on
Sept enber 26, 2006 at approximately 11:56 a.m aboard
US Airway flight nunber 1996.

14. On Septenber 26, 2006, nmenbers of the
Phi | adel phia Field D vision, established surveillance
at gate B-4 of the Philadel phia International Airport
and observed Jose VEGA, |rving CABASSA and Ji my Rl VERA
depl ane US Al RWAY flight 1996. Surveillance agents
observed Jose VEGA, Irving CABASSA and Ji my Rl VERA
proceed to gate F-23% of the Phil adel phia International

3 The typewritten affidavit has a black line here; “F-23" is
handwitten in.



Airport and depart en route to La Guardia |International
Airport, located in Queens, New YorKk.

15. Based on the above facts, your affiant
believes that there is probable cause to believe that
there is located within the aforenentioned | uggage

controll ed substances, in violation of Title 21 United
St ates Code, Sections 846 and 841(a) (1),

(b) (L) (A (ii)(ll).
There is no other relevant information contained in the

affidavit or the search warrant.?

1. DI SCUSSI ON
A.  The Legal Standard for Probable Cause for a Search

V\Ar r ant

I n deci di ng whet her there was probabl e cause for Judge R ce
to issue the search warrant, the Court nust determ ne whet her

such probabl e cause existed on only the facts presented in

* The affidavit contained the follow ng sentence in
paragraph 5. “This summary, however, does not purport to contain
all of the information known to ne.”

Wil e the plane was in Phil adel phia, apparently before the
search warrant was obtained, a DEA drug-sniffing dog alerted to
the six bags in question. |In addition, around the sane tine, the
TSA subj ected the bags to x-ray screening, which showed “nunerous
bri ckshaped objects,” consistent with drug trafficking. Govt’'s
Qpp. (doc. no. 50), at 5.

Any information that Agent G bson m ght have orally rel ated
to Judge Rice is not part of the record in this case and, indeed,
woul d be irrelevant in the Court’s probabl e cause anal ysis.

Mor eover, as these factual avernents (the drug-sniffing dog and
the TSA x-rays) were not in the affidavit, the Court will not
consider themin deciding whether the affidavit provided probable
cause for the search warrant. United States v. Hodge, 246 F.3d
301, 305 (3d Gr. 2001).




witing to Judge Rice. United States v. Hodge, 246 F.3d 301, 305

(3d CGr. 2001). Although the Court nmust find that probable cause
exi sted on these facts only, “[t]he supporting affidavit nust be
read in its entirety and in a comobnsense and nont echni cal

manner.” United States v. Conley, 4 F.3d 1200, 1206 (3d Cr

1993). “The issuing judge or nagistrate may give consi derabl e
wei ght to the conclusions of experienced | aw enforcenment officers
regardi ng where evidence of a crine is likely to be found and is
entitled to draw reasonabl e i nferences about where evidence is
likely to be kept, based on the nature of the evidence and the

type of offense.” United States v. Witner, 219 F.3d 289, 296

(3d Cr. 2000) (quoting United States v. Caicedo, 85 F.3d 1184,

1192 (3d Gr. 1996)).
The test is one of totality of the circunstances. |llinois

v. Gates, 462 U. S. 213, 238 (1983); United States v. Daly, 937 F

Supp. 401, 407 (E.D. Pa. 1996) (Robreno, J.). There is probable
cause for a search warrant when “there is a fair probability that
contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular
pl ace.” Gates, 462 U. S. at 238.

“A magistrate’s determ nation of probable cause shoul d be

paid great deference by reviewing courts.” Conley, 4 F.3d at

1203 (quoting Gates, 462 U S. at 236 (enphasis in Conley)).
“Even if a review ng court would not have found probable cause in

a particular case, it nmust neverthel ess uphold a warrant so | ong



as the issuing magi strate’s determ nati on was nmade consi st ent
with the mnimal substantial basis standard.” 1d. at 1205.

Al though “the resolution of doubtful or marginal cases in this
area should be largely determ ned by the preference to be

accorded to warrants,” United States v. Jones, 994 F.2d 1051,

1057-58 (3d Gr. 1993) (quoting United States v. Ventresca, 380

U S 102, 109 (1965)), a review ng court should not sinply rubber

stanp a magistrate judge's finding. United States v. Zi nmernan,

277 F.3d 426, 433 (3d Cr. 2002).

Thus, in deciding whether the search warrant was supported
by probabl e cause, the Court nust determ ne whether, on the four
corners of the affidavit, there was a substantial basis for the
magi strate judge’s determ nation that probable cause exi st ed.
The Court nust be wary, however, not to supplant its own

evaluation of the affidavit for the magi strate judge’s.

B. Application of the Affidavit to the Legal Standard

The Court nust |ook to the text of the affidavit to
determne if it provided a basis for the magistrate judge to
i ssue the search warrant.

Paragraphs 6 and 7 of the affidavit state that the San Juan
DEA provided the Phil adel phia DEA wth information that
Def endants were suspected drug couriers and that a shipnment of

cocaine mght be arriving at the Philadel phia airport on a



comercial airplane.® Paragraphs 10 and 11 state that the San
Juan DEA provided simlar information (the identity of a possible
drug courier and the possible transportation of cocaine on a US
Airways flight from San Juan to Phil adel phia to New York) the
week prior and that this information proved to be reliable.

Wil e the source of the San Juan DEA's information was
unknown, simlar information fromthe San Juan DEA had proved
reliable at | east once in the recent past and therefore the San
Juan DEA' s relaying of information to the Phil adel phia DEA is
entitled to at | east sone weight. Mreover, the nodus operandi
of this particular drug organi zati on appeared to be to send
couriers on a US Airways flight from San Juan to Phil adel phia to
New York. Here, the suspected drug couriers (Defendants) used
the sane airline and sane flight plan.

Par agraphs 8 and 9 state that Defendants purchased their

one-way tickets in cash i nmedi atel y® before the flight. In

> Defendants argue that the warrant is invalid because the
affidavit does not state the basis for the San Juan DEA s
information that Defendants were suspected drug couriers. Under
the pre-Gates standard, in which an affiant was required to state
both the basis for a particular piece of know edge and the
veracity (or reliability and credibility) of that know edge, see
Gates, 462 U.S. at 239 & n.4, this failure would |ikely have been
fatal. However, today the lack of a basis for this information
is only one piece of the larger affidavit pie. The San Juan
DEA' s information is discounted (but not entirely ignored)
because the magi strate judge had no way of knowing its source or
reliability.

® The affidavit states that Defendants “purchased their
ticket[s] prior to boarding their flight.” O course Defendants
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addition, the four checked bags that were inspected by TSA were
al nost conpletely enpty. Therefore, Defendants (1) purchased
one-way tickets (2) in cash (3) imediately before the flight,
and (4) each checked two al nost-enpty bags. The nagi strate judge
was entitled to infer that sonmeone with Agent G bson’s expertise
woul d determ ne that these actions are consistent with drug
courier activity.

Paragraph 12 identified the characteristics of four of the
bags that were checked by Defendants at the San Juan airport.
Three of the bags were gym backs with the word “Tour” and a red
letter “X.” Attachment “A” to the search warrant lists the six
bags to be searched at the Phil adel phia airport: all are
Travel mate suitcases; none are gym backs or have the word “Tour”
or the letter “X’” on them

Attachnment “A’ and paragraph 12, read together, provide the
strongest support for probable cause: Defendants’ bags that were
checked in San Juan are not the sane bags that arrived in
Phi | adel phia. O course, the affidavit could have detailed that
the characteristics of the bags to be searched in Phil adel phia

did not match up with the characteristics of the bags checked by

bought their tickets before they boarded the plane, as opposed to
after they were already onboard. The obvious inplication of this
statenent is that Defendants purchased their tickets imrediately

bef ore boardi ng the plane.




Def endants in San Juan.’ Nevertheless, these facts are present
in the affidavit,® so long as one reads Attachnent “A” and
paragraph 12 in conjunction, and the conclusion that the bags
were switched could be inferred fromthese facts.

Finally, paragraph 13 provides the suspected nodus operandi
for the drug smuggling operation: co-conspirators who are airport
baggage handlers in San Juan “take the assigned baggage tickets
and place themon unidentified |uggage that the couriers retrieve
upon the conpletion of their travel.” This belief, by a seasoned
DEA agent, supports a finding that there is probable cause that
Def endants’ bags were switched by a co-conspirator at the San
Juan airport and contained cocaine upon their arrival in
Phi | adel phi a.

Def endants are correct that the factual avernents, if viewed

in isolation, would not provide probable cause to issue a search

"1t appears that Agent G bson had a very short period of
time to | ocate the six bags in question anongst all the |uggage
fromthe plane, conpose the affidavit, obtain the search warrant,
and then search the bags, all before the plane left for New York.
In any event, Agent G bson was not required to conpose the
affidavit in a technical manner. Conley, 4 F.3d at 1206.

8 There is no nmerit to the argunent that Attachment “A’
cannot be considered here because it is not “part” of the
affidavit. To be included as an attachnent to the search
warrant, the information in the attachnment nust have been
presented to the magistrate judge prior to his issuing the search
warrant. The information in Attachnent “A’” is thus a “fact”
considered by the magi strate judge. See Jones, 994 F.2d at 1055
(holding that a reviewing court |looks to the “facts that were
before the magistrate judge, i.e., the affidavit” (enphasis
added)) .
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warrant for the bags. However, when viewed as a whole, draw ng
reasonabl e inferences, and considering the totality of the
ci rcunst ances, the Court is convinced that they provide a
sufficient basis for the magistrate judge s conclusion that they

supported a search warrant. See Conley, 4 F.3d at 1206.

Def ense counsel posited at oral argunent that the affidavit
was | acking a connecting thread and that it was the job of the
affiant, not the magistrate judge, to draw reasonabl e inferences
fromthe facts provided. O course, the affidavit could have
made a stronger case: the connection between the courier
operation the week earlier and Defendants coul d have been nade
clearer, the fact that the Defendants’ bags upon arrival in
Phi | adel phia did not natch the bags they checked in San Juan
coul d have been explicitly stated, and Defendants’ actions at
airport could have been tied to the actions of a typical drug
courier.

But the question for the Court is not whether the affidavit
coul d have nmade a stronger case; rather, the question is whether
the avernents add up to probabl e cause. Defendants have not
pointed to any authority that the magi strate judge hinsel f cannot
draw reasonabl e inferences fromthe facts provided. The
magi strate judge nmust nake his determ nation on the facts
provi ded, Conley, 4 F.3d at 1203; as a judicial officer--and

i ndeed a reasonabl e person--he is entitled to draw i nferences and
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make concl usi ons based on these facts.

In short, the affidavit states that Defendants bought one-
way tickets, in cash, the day of their flight; checked bags that
were al nost enpty; traveled a route and used an airline that had
recently been used by drug couriers; and were in possession of
clains checks that corresponded to bags that they did not check.
On this basis, there was probable cause for the magistrate judge

to i ssue the search warrant.

I11. CONCLUSI ON

The Court finds that Agent G bson’s affidavit provided a
substantial basis for Judge Rice s conclusion that there was
probabl e cause to issue a search warrant to check for drugs in
Def endants’ | uggage. Therefore, Defendants’ notions to suppress

wi Il be deni ed.
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ORDER
AND NOW this 8th day of February 2007, follow ng a hearing
on the record on February 7 and 8, 2007, it is hereby ORDERED
that Defendants’ notions to suppress physical evidence (doc. nos.
42-45) are DEN ED for the reasons stated in the acconpanyi ng

Menor andum °

AND I'T I S SO ORDERED.

S/ Eduardo C. Robreno
EDUARDO C. ROBRENO, J.

°® During the February 7, 2007, hearing, all three Defendants
orally withdrew their notions to the extent that they sought to
suppress any statenents on an i ndependent basis.
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